3

original

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-07-7166

OTHA DELANEY .....

Appellant,

-vs-

FIRST FINANCIAL OF CHARLESTON, INC. ....

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Philip L. Fairbanks  
Philip Fairbanks, P.C.  
1214 King Street  
Beaufort, SC 29902  
843-521-1580  
843-521-1590 fax  
[philip.fairbanks@gmail.com](mailto:philip.fairbanks@gmail.com)

**RECEIVED**

FEB 10 2015

SC Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I. BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER § 36-9-625(c)(2) OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE ACCRUED WHEN RESPONDENT DISPOSED OF THE COLLATERAL, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT THIS ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

II. BECAUSE THE REMEDY PROVIDED BY § 36-9-625(c)(2) IS REMEDIAL AND COMPENSATORY, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT THE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS PROVIDED BY §§ 15-3-540(2) OR 15-3-570 FOR AN ACTION UPON A STATUTE FOR A PENALTY OR FORFEITURE ARE APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE

III. BECAUSE THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 9, PART 6 OF THE U.C.C. ARE IMPOSED BY LAW UPON EVERY SECURED TRANSACTION COVERED BY ARTICLE 9 AND BECOME TERMS OF THE SECURITY AGREEMENT, BREACH OF THE ARTICLE 9 NOTICE REQUIREMENTS IS A BREACH OF THE CONTRACT. ACCORDINGLY, THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPELLANT'S U.C.C. CAUSE OF ACTION IS PROVIDED BY § 36-2-725

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Otha Delaney (Appellant) filed this action on October 3, 2011, alleging that the Notice of Sale of collateral that First Financial (Appellee) sent him in an attempt to comply with § 36-9-614 of South Carolina's version of the Uniform Commercial Code was defective as a matter of law. As a result, Delaney alleged that he is entitled to statutory relief pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 36-9-625(c)(2). Delaney, as a representative of a putative class, seeks this recovery on behalf of class members. (R. pp.18-25)

First Financial filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure asserting a statute of limitations defense as a bar to the action because the date Delaney received the allegedly defective § 36-9-614 notice was in May, 2008, more than three years prior to the date the case was filed. (R. pp. 30-31)

On April 29, 2014, the trial court granted First Federal's motion to dismiss. (R. pp.1-8)

## **FACTS**

The facts are not disputed. The trial court held that the action is barred by the statute of limitations as a matter of law. (R. p. 8)

Appellant respectfully disagrees and argues below that the trial court committed reversible legal error in several respects.

## ARGUMENTS

### INTRODUCTION

This case involves the requirement, first imposed by the Uniform Commercial Code (hereinafter the “U.C.C.”)<sup>1</sup> in the 1960s (following similar rules in the common law of commercial relations and earlier efforts at its codification),<sup>2</sup> that a conditional seller who repossesses and disposes of collateral from a defaulting conditional buyer, provide the buyer (and guarantors) with information about the proposed disposition prior to conducting it.<sup>3</sup>

The purpose of this requirement is to permit the buyer (and guarantors) to participate in or otherwise influence the sale (disposition) in order to minimize their liability for a deficiency.<sup>4</sup>

Appellee, it is alleged, failed to provide Appellant (and putative class members) with notice of disposition of collateral compliant with relevant U.C.C. sections. As a result, Appellant sued Appellee, alleging the latter’s liability for damages pursuant to a U.C.C. section entitling a conditional buyer or guarantor, upon proof of a secured party’s disposition of repossessed collateral without, *inter alia*, compliant pre-disposition notice, to recover actual damages, and in the case of “consumer goods” transactions,<sup>5</sup> to an election between recovery of actual damages or of damages in an amount based directly on the price of the goods and the interest charged in the transaction in question.<sup>6</sup> (R. pp. 18-25)

---

<sup>1</sup> Further references to the Uniform Commercial Code will be to either the S.C. Code section (*e.g.*, §36-9-101, *et seq.*), or to the Uniform Commercial Code (U.L.A.) section (*e.g.*, § 9-101, *et seq.*). South Carolina’s revised version of the Uniform Commercial Code, enacted in 2001, is virtually identical to the 1999 Uniform Code Commissioners (ULA) version enacted with only minor variations in all fifty states. *See*, Official Comment 1, S.C. Code § 36-9-101: “This Article supersedes former Uniform Commercial Code (UCC) Article 9. [T]he Comments to former Article 9 will remain of substantial historical value and interest.” Article 9, in essentially its current substance, has been the law in South Carolina, and throughout the United States, since the early 1960s. *See, e.g.*, 1962 S.C. Code § 10.9-101, *et seq.*

<sup>2</sup> Article 9 unified the law of pledges, conditional sales, chattel mortgages, trust receipts, and other security interests in personal property. *See* U.C.C. U.L.A. § 9-102(2) (1995).

<sup>3</sup> U.C.C. §§ 36-9-613 & 614.

<sup>4</sup> In *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000), the Supreme Court explained the purpose of the pre-disposition notice required by §§ 36-9-613 and 614. “The purpose of the notice is to allow the debtor to discharge the debt and redeem the collateral, produce another purchaser, or see that the sale is conducted in a commercially reasonable manner.” *Id.*, 341 S.C. at 384 and 534 S.E.2d at 695; *citing Crane v. Citicorp Nat’l Servs., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 70, 437 S.E.2d 50 (1993) and James J. White & Robert S. Summers, *Uniform Commercial Code* (hereinafter “White & Summers”), § 34-13 (1995). *See also, Cosgrove v. Citizens Automobile Finance, Inc.*, 2010 WL 3370760 (Bankr. E.D.Pa. Aug. 26, 2010) (The notice recognizes a debtor’s “forlorn hope that if he is notified, [he] will either acquire enough money to redeem the collateral or send his friends to bid for it.”) *citing Brockbank, supra*, and *quoting* White and Summers § 26-9 (2d ed. 1980). In *Crane*, the Court explained the rationale for providing notice to guarantors as well as primary debtors. *Crane, supra* at 313 S.C. at 73, 437 SE2d at 5 (Guarantors have the same interest as debtors in avoiding or minimizing a deficiency judgment.)

<sup>5</sup> “Consumer goods transaction” is a defined term in the “U.C.C.” *See*, § 36-9-102(24) “Consumer goods transaction” means a “consumer transaction in which:

- (A) an individual incurs an obligation primarily for personal, family, or household purposes; and
- (B) a security interest in consumer goods secures the obligation.”

<sup>6</sup> Section 36-9-625(c).

Appellee argued, and the trial court agreed, that the alternate damage remedy is a penalty subject to the one year or three year statute of limitations established, respectively, in § 15-3-540(2) and § 15-3-570. The trial court ruled that Appellant's cause of action under U.C.C. § 36-9-625(c)(2) for Appellee's noncompliance with the pre-disposition notice requirement in a consumer goods transaction accrued either when the defective notice was sent or received. Because both the date the notice was sent to and the date it was received by Appellant was more than three years prior to the date Appellant filed the action, the trial court granted Appellee's motion to dismiss the case. (R. pp.1- 8)

Following the trial court's denial of Appellant's timely motion under Rule 59(e), (R. pp.9-17), this appeal was noticed and filed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The affirmative defense of a statute of limitations bar, based on facts pled in complaint, may be raised by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. *E.g., Pressley v. Tupperware Long Term Disability Plan*, 553 F.3d 334 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009).

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss on the pleadings, the Court of Appeals must apply the same standard as the trial court, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. A trial court must deny a motion to dismiss if the evidence, etc., yields more than one reasonable inference. *Broyhill v. Resolution Management Consultants, Inc.*, 401 S.C. 466, 736 S.E.2d 867 (S.C. App. 2012); *Brazell v. Winsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 682 S.E.2d 824 (2004).

Furthermore, where a trial court properly finds that it has jurisdiction, but commits error in ruling on a dispositive motion, remand is unnecessary and may constitute error. *E.g., Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000) ("The Court of Appeals erred in remanding the case for lower court to decide the issue.") Thus, it is appropriate in a case where an appellate court determines clear error on the part of the lower court, that it simply enter judgment in favor of the appellant. *Id.*

### **I. BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER § 36-9-625(c)(2) OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE ACCRUED WHEN RESPONDENT DISPOSED OF THE COLLATERAL, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT THIS ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS**

#### ***A. Statutes of Limitations Commence On Date of Accrual of Cause of Action***

The trial court held, and the parties agree, that a statute of limitations commences at the moment a party has a right to initiate suit.<sup>7</sup> The question of when a cause of action arises or

---

<sup>7</sup> "Plaintiffs (sic) sole cause of action accrued upon receipt of the 'NOTICE OF PRIVATE SALE OF

accrues is a question of law. *Menezes v. W.L. Ross & Co., L.L.C.*, 403 S.C. 522, 744 S.E.2d 178 (2013). The standard as to when the limitations period begins to run is objective rather than subjective. *Turner v. Milliman*, 381 S.C. 101, 671 S.E.2d 636 (S.C.App. 2009) “When there is doubt as to which of two limitation laws applies in a given instance, the doubt must be resolved in favor of affording the longer period.”<sup>8</sup>

A cause of action accrues at the moment the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it. *E.g.*, *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 358 S.C. 388, 596 S.E.2d 42 (2004), *reh’g denied* May 25, 2004; *Grillo v. Speedrite Products, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 498, 532 S.E.2d 1 (S.C.App. 2000). In analyzing a limitations defense, the fundamental test for determining whether a cause of action has accrued is whether the party asserting the claim can maintain an action to enforce it. *King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 694 S.E.2d 35 (S.C.App. 2010).<sup>9</sup>

---

***B. Prior to the Secured Party’s Disposition of Repossessed Collateral, a Cause of Action under § 36-9-625 is Incomplete***

In the Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Dismiss, Appellee made the following statement:

In this case, there is only one date when any alleged violation of § 36-9-625(c)(2) could have occurred. As Plaintiff concedes, that day was May 2, 2008 when the notice of sale which is alleged to have been improper was sent. (*See* Plaintiff’s Complaint at para. 14.) There is no other allegation of any form of wrongdoing or violation of any statute against First Financial. Thus, even if § 15-3-540(2) is found to be applicable, the statute of limitations began to run when this notice that was sent (or shortly thereafter when Plaintiff received this notice). Plaintiff has made no allegation that this notice was received well after it was sent, and this lawsuit was filed on October 3, 2011, well over five months

---

COLLATERAL.’ In the alternative, Defendant asserts that because this action accrued upon Plaintiff’s receipt of the Notice of Sale, a three year statute of limitations, if applied, still renders the Plaintiff’s action untimely as a matter of law.” The trial court base its ruling dismissing Appellant’s action on these arguments. *Order of Trial Court*, at 2, 5 & 8.

<sup>8</sup> *State v. Life Ins. Co.*, 254 S. C. 286, 175 S. E. 2d 203 (1970); *Scovill v. Johnson*, 190 S. C. 457, 3 S.E.2d 543 (1939). *See*, 26 S.C. Jur., *Limitation of Actions* § 13, *Applicable Limitations Law*.

<sup>9</sup> *See also*, 26 S.C. Jur., *Limitation of Actions* § 54 (“Under most circumstances, civil actions can be commenced only within the prescribed period after the cause of action has accrued. The general rule is that a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff has a claim to enforce, either because of a right withheld or a wrong done, and the legal right to sue upon the claim.”) *See also*, Lawrence’s *Anderson on the Uniform Commercial Code* §§ 2-725:1 & 2-725:2 (3d ed.) (Same); 31 *Williston on Contracts* § 79:14 (4th ed.) (Same); *Annot.: Solving Statutes of Limitation Problems*, 4 Am.Jur. Trials 441(Same). That rule has governed since the 1830s. *See, e.g.*, *Bank of United States v. Daniel*. 12 Pet. 32, 56, 9 L.Ed. 989 (1838); *Evans v. Gee*. 11 Pet. 80, 84, 9 L.Ed. 639 (1837). And that definition appears in dictionaries from the 19th century up until today. *See, e.g.*, 1 A. Burrill, *A Law Dictionary and Glossary* 17 (1850) (“[A]n action *accrues* when the plaintiff has a right to commence it”); *Black’s Law Dictionary* 23 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “accrue” as “[t]o come into existence as an enforceable claim or right”).

after the limitations period would have ran under § 15-3-540(2), in May of 2011. Thus, Plaintiff's claim is time-barred and should be dismissed with prejudice.

*Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss.* (R. pp. 51-52)

It is true that Appellee's "NOTICE OF PRIVATE SALE OF COLLATERAL" (hereafter the "Notice") was dated, and presumably sent, on or about May 2, 2008. It is also likely that the notice was received by Appellant shortly thereafter. However, neither the date of mailing nor the date of receipt of that Notice can logically, or legally, constitute the date on which Appellant's cause of action under § 36-9-625 accrued.

There are several reasons for this, having to do with the logic, structure, and purpose of Article 9 which will be addressed below.

***C. The Notices Required by §§ 36-9-613 & 614 are Required to be Given Prior to Disposition of Collateral Securing a Defaulted Installment Debt***

Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code, *Secured Transactions*, requires a secured party, after repossession but prior to disposition of collateral securing an installment debt in default, to provide written notice to the debtor and its guarantors regarding the proposed disposition. *S.C. Code Ann. Sections 36-9-610 through 9-625.*

Section 36-9-610, entitled "**Disposition of collateral after default,**" states, *inter alia*, that:

- (a) After default, a secured party may sell, lease, license, or otherwise **dispose of** any or all of the collateral in its present condition or following any commercially reasonable preparation or processing.
- (b) **Every aspect of a disposition of collateral.** including the method, manner, time place, and other terms, must be commercially reasonable.....

*Id.* (emphasis added).

Section 36-9-611, "**Notification before disposition of collateral,**" provides, *inter alia*:

...a secured party that **disposes of collateral** under Section 36-9-610 shall send to the persons specified in subsection (c)...a reasonable authenticated **notification of disposition** ....

*S.C. Code Ann. Section 36-9-611.* (emphasis added).

Section 36-9-613, entitled "**Contents and form of notification before disposition of collateral: general,**" describes the information a secured creditor must provide to the conditional purchaser and any co-obligors/guarantors, **prior to disposing of the collateral in full** or partial satisfaction of the debt it secures. (emphasis added). *E.g., Coastal States Bank v. Hanover Homes of South Carolina, LLC*, 2014 WL 1230237, Appellate Case No. 2012-213154 (S.C.App. March 26, 2014).

Section 36-9-614 (which incorporates § 36-9-613) is entitled: “**Contents and form of notification before disposition of collateral: consumer goods transaction.**” (emphasis added).

Section 36-9-614 adds information which is required to be included in notices of disposition of collateral in “consumer-goods” transactions to the list of requirements applicable to pre-disposition notices in non-consumer-transactions as described in § 36-9-613. Otherwise, as does § 36-9-613, § 36-9-614 lists information that must be given a conditional purchaser or guarantor by a secured party **prior to** the disposition of repossessed collateral in consumer goods transactions.

In *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000), the Supreme Court explained the purpose of the pre-disposition notice required by §§ 36-9-613 and 614. “The purpose of the notice is to allow the debtor to discharge the debt and redeem the collateral, produce another purchaser, or **see that the sale is conducted in a commercially reasonable manner.**” *Id.*, 341 S.C. at 348 and 534 S.E.2d at 695 (emphasis added); citing *Crane v. Citicorp Nat’l Servs., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 70, 73, 437 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1993) and *White & Summers*, § 34-13 (1995).

In *Crane*,<sup>10</sup> the Court considered the question, among others, whether a guarantor, as well as the principle debtor, was entitled to the pre-disposition notice after collateral was repossessed. The Court observed:

“The majority of courts have found guarantors are debtors under § 36-9-504(3) and thus entitled to notice. 9 Hawklund, *Uniform Commercial Code* § 9-105:05 n. 12 (1990); see also *Rhoten v. United Vir. Bank*, 221 Va. 222, 269 S.E.2d 781 (1980). We agree. As noted above, **one purpose of the notice is to assure the sale is conducted in a commercially-reasonable manner.** 2 James J. White & Robert S. Summers, *Uniform Commercial Code* § 27-12, at 599 (1988). Persons with liability on the underlying obligation have a **financial status in the creditor’s disposition or sale of the collateral** that is identical to the debtor’s interest - **liability for a deficiency.** *Id.* at 604. Accordingly, they are entitled to the same notice protection. *Id.*

*Crane, supra.* (emphasis added.)

In the end, whether it is the conditional purchaser unable to continue servicing the installment payments, or the guarantor of that interrupted stream of payments, the notice of proposed disposition of the collateral is critical because it allows the recipient of **compliant** notice to act so as to affect the dispositional transaction (“bidding up” the public auction or encouraging others to do so, for example).

---

<sup>10</sup> Construing the pre-revision version of Article Nine (§§ 9-504 & 9-507), whose notice and damages provisions were essentially the same as the post-revision provisions (§§ 9-613, 9-614 & 9-625). See Footnote 1, *Order of Trial Court Dismissing Complaint*, at page 4. “Although the Court in *Singleton* was analyzing the provisions of former Section 9-507(1), current § 36-9-625(c)(2) embodies nearly identical language for its provisions on recovery related to improper notice of sale.”

This opportunity to influence the transaction in which the collateral is disposed of, and thus, the size of a deficiency claim for which a conditional purchaser/guarantor will be liable, is (1) the underlying reason for the Article 9 pre-disposition notice requirement, and (2) the reason the UCC provides **only** injunctive relief **prior to sale (disposition)** of the collateral, but provides **an action for damages once disposition has been accomplished**.

*Crane*, and to some extent, *Brockbank*, make clear, that the failure of a secured creditor to provide compliant notice of disposition has the potential not just to deprive the consumer of important rights related to the redemption of the collateral, but also of the ability of both consumer and guarantor to influence the size of a deficiency claim. *See, Crane, supra. Accord, 10 Anderson on the Uniform Commercial Code* § 9-504:439 (3d ed.) (citing *Crane*).<sup>11</sup>

Because a deficiency judgment is only possible **after** disposition of the collateral, it stands to reason that the cause of action for damages under § 9-625(c),<sup>12</sup> both actual and formulaic, can only accrue, and the statute of limitations can only commence, when the disposition has occurred.

***D. The U.C.C. Distinguishes Between Pre-Disposition and Post-Disposition Noncompliance with Article 9's Notice Requirements by Providing Different Remedies Based on the Time of the Secured Party's Noncompliance***

The U.C.C. distinguishes between the sorts of remedies necessary to address the failure of a creditor to comply with the default provisions of the Code, including the requirements regarding notice of disposition. As one distinguished commentator put it:

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