THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Earnest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-07-5059
Court of Appeals Number:
2012 - 213154

CoastalStates Bank, Respondent,

v.

Hanover Homes of South Carolina, LLC; Hanover Homes, Inc. George Cosman,
Defendants,

Of Whom George Cosman is the Appellant.

George Cosman, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Phillip Petruzzelli, Third-Party Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Richard R. Gleissner
Gleissner Law Firm, LLC
1237 Gadsden Street, Suite 200A
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 787-0505
Attorneys for Appellants

Russell P. Patterson
Russell P. Patterson, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 8047

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

“The debtor is not a party to the guaranty, and the guarantor is not a party to the principal obligation. The undertaking of the former is independent of the promise of the latter; and the responsibilities which are imposed by the contract of guaranty differ from those which are created by the contract to which the guaranty is collateral.”

The terms and provisions of the subject guarantee agreements expressly provide the obligations under the guarantee are separate and distinct obligations of Cosman, separate and apart from the obligations of Borrower. The Guaranty on the \$2,600,000 debt (R.pp. 214-216) reads as follows:

§2 **“Absolute and Unconditional Guaranty; Waiver of Defenses.** This Guaranty is an absolute and unconditional guaranty of payment and not of collection and is in addition to any other Guaranty given by Guarantor to the Bank. **This Guarantee creates a direct and primary obligation of the Guarantor to the Bank without regard to any other guarantor or obligor to the Bank or the value of any security or collateral held by the Bank.** Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Guarantor’s obligations hereunder may be enforced with or without joinder of the Borrower or any other guarantor and without proceeding against the Borrower, or any other guarantor or against collateral held by the Bank.” (emphasis added)

It is difficult to imagine a clearer stated intention. Similar language is found in the remaining two guarantee agreements (R.pp. 224-226, § 4; 232-234, § 4). It is undisputed that the three loans were never paid in full (R.pp. 150-151, § 4). The Bank under the Petruzzelli Agreement, in an effort to liquidate the 21 vacant lots in an orderly fashion, agreed to release the Borrower and Petruzzelli, one of the guarantors, from any further liability, expressly reserving in § 5 of said agreement its rights against the remaining guarantor, Cosman. This specific scenario, a release by the Bank of the Borrower and another guarantor, was expressly permitted and agreed upon by Cosman in the guarantee of the \$2,600,000 loan (R.pp. 214-219), as noted below.

§2(a) “. . . Guarantor agrees that the Bank may take any or all of the following actions without diminishing, impairing, limiting, or abridging the Guarantor’s obligation hereunder . . . :

(i) the exchange, release, dissipation or surrender by the Bank of any collateral security, whether real or personal . . . ;

(ii) the granting by the Bank of any waiver, release, or subordination, in whole, or in part, of . . . any mortgage . . . now or hereafter held by the Bank as collateral security for any liability or obligation of the Borrower;

(iii) **any release or discharge by the Bank of the Borrower . . . including without limitation any other guarantor;** (emphasis added)

(v) . . . any settlement made with the Borrower, or any co-maker . . . or any other guarantor or with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations;

Similar language is found in § 2(c) of said guarantee agreement.

§2(c) “. . . Without limiting the generality of the foregoing agreements, consents and waivers by the Guarantor, the Guarantor expressly consents to and agrees that the Guarantor shall not be discharged by, any of the following:

(ii) **the release or discharge without express reservation of rights of any one or more parties liable with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations;** (emphasis added)

(iv) . . . the release of any property in which the Bank has any interest securing the Guaranteed Obligations;

In § 3 of the Cosman guarantee, Cosman again agrees the Bank can release the Borrower and Petruzzelli without notice to him, as follows:

3. **Waiver of Notices; Additional Waivers.** “. . . Guarantor hereby expressly waives all notices and defenses whatsoever with respect to this Guaranty or with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations, including but not limited to: . . . (d) notice of the obtaining or release of any guaranty or surety agreement . . . mortgage . . . or other security for any Guaranteed Obligations.” (emphasis added)

Cosman also expressly waived any claimed right to receive notice of the sale of the real estate collateral to a third party, sold by Borrower, a limited liability company in which he was a 50% owner, under § 3, as follows:

“Guarantor expressly waives . . . (m) notice of the disposition of any collateral held to secure the Guaranteed Obligations.”

Finally, Cosman waived any right he held to assert an appraisal action in the event the properties were foreclosed (R.pp. 180, lines 4-25; p. 183, line 23 to p. 184, line 16; p. 188, lines 12-14; p. 190, lines 21-23; 206, 207, 220, 227). This latter right never arose since the Borrower voluntarily sold all of the real estate to third parties.

The remaining two guarantee agreements for the other two loans contain essentially identical provisions (R.pp. 224-226; 232-234; separate and distinct liability § 2; consent to sale, without notice §§ 5, 7, 9(A); release of Borrower or other guarantor § 9(A)(2)).

The Bank, in entering into the Petruzzelli Agreement with the Borrower and Petruzzelli in October 2010, unquestionably acted within the express terms and conditions of the three Cosman guarantees. The Courts are without authority to re-write the parties' agreement and conclude, as Cosman now asserts, that the very actions expressly provided for in the agreements of the parties result in Cosman being released with over \$3,200,000 still unpaid to the Bank. Mailsorce, LLC v. M. A. Bailey & Assoc., 356 S.C. 363, 369, 588 S.E.2d 635, 639 (Ct.App.

2003) Cosman would have this Court simply ignore all of the above provisions to reach his goal of being released from the three guarantee agreements.

As noted by the Trial Judge, our courts have already addressed the precise issue of a lender releasing a borrower or obligor and still pursuing a guarantor, interpreting a guaranty agreement with very similar language to the instant case. In Transouth Fin. Corp. v. Cochran, 324 S.C. 290, 478 S.E.2d 63 (Ct.App. 1996), Cochran, as guarantor, was sued under a personal, unconditional guarantee for a car dealership's ("Auto Sales") obligations. The guaranty provided the lender ("Transouth") could release any obligation or collateral and still pursue Cochran, the same language in the subject guaranty agreements. The Court held that Cochran's obligation was separate and distinct from that of the dealership and remained enforceable, even if the lender had released the dealership, stating as follows at p. 294:

"The terms of the guaranty provided that Cochran's obligation to TranSouth would be unaffected if TranSouth decided to release Auto Sale's obligation. The expiration of the confession of judgment amounted to a release of Auto Sales, but did not relieve Cochran's liability to TranSouth."

Although Cosman cites no South Carolina cases in support of his argument he is released as a result of the Petruzzelli Agreement, he does rely on two foreign cases, neither of which are controlling or applicable. U.S. v. Sentry Ins., 980 F.Supp. 481 (1996), *aff'd*, 194 F.3d 1328 (Fed.Cir. 1994) involved a suit by the United States government on a bond filed by an insurance carrier for repairs to a shipping vessel. The repairs had been paid in full and the government filed a notice of satisfaction of the claim. The Court held the carrier had no further liability under the terms of the bond since the underlying debt was completely paid and a satisfaction issued. In this case, the Bank is still owed over \$3,200,000 and never satisfied the debt (R.pp. 150-151, § 4). In addition, under § 5 of the Petruzzelli Settlement, the Bank expressly reserved its rights against Cosman.

Dressler Properties, Inc. v. Ohio Heart Care, Inc., 56 UCC Rep.Serv.2d 716, 2005-Ohio 1969 (Ohio App. 5 Dist. Mar 07, 2005), also relied on by Cosman, involved the enforcement of a lease guaranty under Ohio state law. A landlord filed an action for monetary damages against its tenant and a guarantor of the lease. Landlord thereafter signed a new lease and dismissed its suit against the original tenant, but still pursued the guarantor. The Ohio court held the landlord could not pursue the original guarantor under the first lease, based on Ohio surety law holding that the release of the primary obligor released the guaranty. In Dressler, there was no specific language in the lease guaranty that expressly authorized the lender to proceed against the guarantor, notwithstanding its release or settlement with the tenant or any other guarantor. Such language is clearly present in this case. In addition, the Bank expressly reserved its rights against Cosman in the Petruzzelli Agreement. No such reservation was present in the various lease agreements in Dressler.

The Ohio court in Stump Hill Farm, Inc. v. PFC Lamont Hill Mem. Army Garrison 2003, 2012-Ohio-4475 (Ohio App. 5 Dist Sept 24, 2012), later distinguishes its holding in Dressler. In this landlord-tenant dispute, the Court held the guarantor was still liable after the release of the tenant since the settlement agreement with the tenant expressly reserved the landlord's rights against the remaining guarantors. This is the same type of reservation of rights retained by the Bank in § 5 of the Petruzzelli Agreement. Thus, the Ohio Court would also hold Cosman liable under his three (3) guarantees.

This is a simple matter for the Court to enforce the parties' agreement. Under TranSouth, the continuing liability of Cosman is absolutely clear.

B. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-605 (1976) provides no Defense to Cosman.

Cosman asserts that the discharge of the Borrower under the 2008 amendments to S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-605 (1976) bar Bank's claims. The Trial Court's Order sets forth in detail

why there is no basis for such a position. First, § 36-3-605(a) only applies to an “instrument,” as defined under § 36-3-104. The three Cosman guarantees clearly do not meet the required elements of an instrument, as they are not for a sum certain, are not an unconditional promise to pay and Cosman was not a party to the original three notes. Our Courts have held under such circumstances a guarantee is thus not an instrument under § 36-3-104. Sunrise Savings and Loan Association v. Mariner’s Cay Development Corp., 295 S.C. 208, 367 S.E.2d 696 (1998). This fact is expressly stated in the Reporter’s Comments to § 605(a) – “This provision does not apply to the obligation of a guarantor under a separate agreement guaranteeing a maker’s obligation on a note.” See Also: 5A Lary Lawrence, Lawrence’s Anderson on the Uniform Commercial Code, § 3-104:34 – “A continuing guaranty is not a negotiable instrument and therefore is not governed by Article 3 of the Code.”

As noted by the Trial Judge, even if the Cosman guarantees were instruments, § 36-3-605 provides no relief to Cosman. § 36-3-605(2) expressly provides there is no release of the guarantor if the terms of the release provide for the retention of the rights against the other guarantors.

“(2) Unless the terms of the release provide that the person entitled to enforce the instrument retains the right to enforce the instrument against the secondary obligor, the secondary obligor is discharged to the same extent as the principal obligor from any unperformed portion of its obligation on the instrument.”

As discussed above, the Petruzzelli Agreement contains just such a retention of rights against Cosman. Section 5 reads as follows:

“5. **No Release of Other Guarantors.** Lender does not release or discharge any obligations, liabilities or guaranties of any other guarantor of the Notes and nothing provided for in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any of Lender’s rights and remedies with regard to any other guarantor of the Notes.”

There simply is no question that the exception under 36-3-605(2) applies and no release of Cosman occurred as a result of the Petruzzelli Agreement.

A third reason Cosman's assertion that § 36-3-605 provides a defense fails is that under Section 605(f), there is no discharge of a guarantor if the guarantor has waived defenses based on suretyship or impairment of collateral. Said provision reads as follows:

“(f) A secondary obligor is not discharged under this section if . . . the instrument or a separate agreement of the party provides for waiver of discharge under this section specifically or by general language indicating that parties waive defenses based on suretyship or impairment of collateral.”

All three guarantee agreements signed by Cosman contain express waivers of said defenses. Said language in § 2 in the guarantee for the \$2,600,000 loan reads as follows (R.pp. 214-219):

“Guarantor expressly waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, each and every defense which under principles of guaranty or suretyship would otherwise operate to impair or diminish the Guarantor's direct and primary liability and obligation to pay the Guaranteed Obligations if and when called to do so.”

Similar language is found in the other two Cosman guarantee agreements (R.pp. 224-226; 232-234, § 9(A)). As set forth in Official Comment 9 to this code section, the release of a guarantor under § 3-605 will occur only in an “occasional case,” since the waiver of such defenses is found in most guarantee agreements. Such a waiver is clearly found in all three Cosman guarantees.

While Cosman makes passing reference in his brief to the Restatement of the Law, Third, Suretyship and Guaranty (1996), § 38, South Carolina did not adopt all of said provisions in 2008, but only certain specific provisions. The law as applicable in this case is clearly set forth in § 36-3-605 and TranSouth, which provides no relief to Cosman for the reasons discussed above.

II. The Bank Filed Suit Within the Three (3) Year Statute of Limitations.

Cosman asserts the Bank failed to file suit under his guarantees within three (3) years, apparently relying on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1). It is not disputed the loans matured on

April 1, 2010 (R.pp. 235-238, § 7; 239-242, § 7; 243-246, § 7; 247-248, § 3(B)) and that litigation was commenced on December 1, 2011, within nineteen (19) months of the maturity date of each loan. Cosman argues the novel position the start of the three (3) year period commenced on the date the guarantee agreements were signed (July 19, 2007) – not when the loans went into default or matured. Cosman has cited no South Carolina cases, or cases from any other jurisdiction, in support of his position which would represent a paradigm shift in the enforceability of guarantees used in thousands of transactions for decades in our State.

It is well established the statute of limitations begins to run on the date a cause of action accrues. With a contract, such as a guarantee, this occurs when there is a breach. State v. McClinton, 369 S.C. 167, 173, 631 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2006). Obviously there was no default under the loans by Borrower subject to the three Cosman guarantees when they were signed or when they were thereafter renewed. If the Bank attempted to enforce the guarantees when they were not in default, Cosman would easily have obtained a dismissal of said action, as well as sanctions under Rule 11 SCRCP, and possibly other remedies.

The Cosman Guarantees simply provide Cosman guarantees payment to the Bank of the subject loans “. . . when and as due upon maturity.” (R.pp. 214-219, § 1) or “when allowed by law that may become due” (R.pp. 224-226; 232-234, § 2) Until there is a default under the Note, triggering acceleration of the debt, or the Note matures, the Bank cannot file suit under the Cosman guarantees or any of the notes. The evidence in the record confirms the loans matured on April 1, 2010 and litigation was commenced within the three (3) year statute.

III. The Guarantee Agreements are not Unenforceable Perpetual Agreements.

Cosman asserts in its brief on appeal for the first time in this litigation his guarantees are unenforceable since they are perpetual agreements under Carolina Cable Network v. Alert Cable

TV, Inc., 316 S.C. 98, 447 S.E.2d 199 (1994). It is well established that an appellant cannot raise arguments or defenses not presented to the Trial Judge below for the first time on appeal. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Thus, this issue is clearly not preserved for appeal and should be dismissed without further discussion.

Even if such a position were available on appeal, it is clear the subject guarantees are not perpetual agreements under Carolina Cable. The Bank is enforcing personal guarantees against Cosman, and thus they are only enforceable during the life of the guarantor, Cosman. There is no prohibition under Carolina Cable, or any other case, that restricts or limits the liability of an obligor during his or her life. While Cosman may be in very good health, it is not expected he will live forever.

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